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I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

Pursuant to West Virginia Rule of Appellate Procedure 10, Respondents submit this 

Statement of the Case to correct omissions and inaccuracies contained in Petitioner's Brief and 

any resulting confusion. 

Petitioner (Defendant below) sought to enforce arbitration agreements embedded in the 

Residency Agreements under which the Respondents, as Powers of Attorney, admitted their 

elderly mothers into Petitioner's assisted living facility. Respondents filed their Complaint on 

October 25, 2016, alleging that, in violation of West Virginia's Consumer Credit and Protection 

Act, Chapter 46A, Petitioner defrauded their mothers and their families by making 

misrepresentations, misleading statements, and concealing material facts leading them to believe 

Petitioner would assess its residents' needs and provide staffing sufficient to meet those needs. 

A.0001-A.00030. 1 

Petitioner conceded below that the arbitration provision contained in the Residency 

Agreements "clearly and unambiguously" states "arbitration shall be conducted 'in accordance 

with',the rules of the AHLA". A.1329. The specific language of the arbitration provision adopts 

the "American Health Lawyers Association (' AHLA') Alternative Dispute Resolution Service 

Rules of Procedure for Arbitration" ("AHLA Rules") as the governing rules. A.0779; A.0798. 

Petitioner also conceded in the trial court that the current version of the AHLA Rules (A.0963-

0997) govern claims on the date an arbitration claim is filed. A.1108, n.6. The 2012 and 2014 

versions of the AHLA Rules, attached to the Petitioner's Brief as exhibits, are not included in the 

Appendix because they were never submitted to the trial court, nor were the new arguments based 

on these documents that appear to have shifted even in this appeal. Nevertheless, these versions 

1 References within this brief denoted as "A. __ " refer to the Joint Appendix filed herewith. References 
denoted as "Supp.A. __ " refer to the Supplemental Appendix filed by Respondent on March 5, 2021. 



also expressly provide that the Rules in effect at the time an arbitration demand is filed will govern 

the arbitration. Pet's Brief, Exhibit A, pp. 13-14; Exhibit B, p. 3. 

The lower court based its denial of the Motion to Compel Arbitration on the requirements 

of AHLA Rules 2.1 and 2.4. A.1394. Petitioner's Brief accurately quotes both Rules; and in short, 

Rule 2.1 establishes the requirement that the arbitration agreement be labeled as a "voluntary 

agreement," that it be presented in a "separate document conspicuously identified as an agreement 

to arbitrate;" that it make clear that the provision of health care will be not be contingent upon 

signing the arbitration agreement, and that it allow for revocation of the agreement for thirty days 

after signing. A.0972. Rule 2.4 specifies that a Final Award terminating an arbitration will be 

entered where the applicable arbitration provision does not comply with the requirements of Rule 

2.1 A.0973. The arbitration provision also provides that "[t]he award rendered by the arbitrator(s) 

shall be final, and judgment on the award shall be entered .... " A.0779; A.0798. Petitioner's 

Assignment of Error erroneously suggests that the only violation of the AHLA Rules was the 

failure to include the arbitration provision in a separate agreement. Pet.' s Brief, p.1. In reality, the 

arbitration provision in Respondents' Residency Agreements utterly fails to meet any of the 

requirements of Rule 2.1. A.0934-0935; A.0953-0954. Accordingly, the lower court denied the 

Motion to Compel Arbitration, stating that "Plaintiffs . . . have met their burden of proof by 

demonstrating that the subject agreement cannot be enforced as written because it does not comply 

with its own stated standards ... [ and] [t]he court cannot find that given this state of the evidence 

that this agreement is valid." A.1390-1395. 

Petitioner drafted the Residency Agreements that include the arbitration provision. Yet 

Petitioner's Appendix and Brief omit the Management Services Agreement that establishes this 
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fact, even though it was referenced below as an attachment in support of two separate motions. 2 

Respondents have moved to supplement the Appendix herein to include the Management Services 

Agreement along with the second motion to which the agreement was attached. Supp.A.1445-

1520. The document omitted here, but submitted to the lower court for another purpose, directly 

contradicts Petitioner's repeated representations to the court below that it was not the drafter of 

these agreements and that the management services it provides "do not include drafting the 

residency agreements." A.1327-A.1329. Similarly, in this appeal, Petitioner repeatedly refers to 

the "drafter" of the arbitration provision in the third person, presumably to create the impression 

that the signatory to the Agreement, rather than Petitioner, drafted the provision. See Pet.'s Brief, 

p.15 ("the drafter of the agreement and the parties"); p.16 ("the parties and the drafter of the 

Residency Agreements"); p.18 ("The Drafter and Parties"); p.20 ("Neither the drafter, nor the 

parties"); p.21 ("the parties and the scrivener of the Residency Agreements"), ("the parties or the 

draftsman"). 

The Management Services Agreement cannot be swept aside as it unequivocally 

establishes that the Petitioner drafted the Residency Agreements containing the arbitration 

provisions at issue here. This fact is detrimental to Petitioner's argument and thus its omission 

must be viewed skeptically. Referring to Petitioner as the "manager," the management agreement 

provides that the "[m]anager shall negotiate all leases, licenses and use agreements affecting the 

community . . . [ and] "shall use a form of lease, residence agreement or similar documents 

approved in advance by the Owner." Supp.A.1504. The term "Owner" refers to a corporation 

occupying the same principal place of business as Petitioner. Supp.A. I 516. The conclusion is 

2 The Management Agreement was identified as Appendix 2 to Petitioner's Memorandum in Opposition to 
Plaintiffs' Motion for Order Requiring Defendant to Disqualify the Court Within 20 Days or Waive Right 
to Do So. A.O 178-0183. However, Petitioner filed its Opposition without the attachments and the agreement 
was not made part of the trial court record at that time. 
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simple. The Petitioner drafted the agreements. See also Kelley v. Beckley Health Partners, LTD 

... and Chancellor Senior Management, Ltd, Case No. 14-C-618-H (Circuit Court of Raleigh 

County, W.Va.) discussed infra at pp. 8-9 (finding the defendants there, of which the Petitioner 

was one, wrote the same arbitration provision at issue here). A.0644. 

As a matter of procedural history, Respondents filed an Amended Complaint on November 

29, 2016. A.003 l-A.0061. Petitioner answered the First Amended Complaint on January 20, 

2017; and although the Answer included 29 defenses, Petitioner did not raise arbitration as an 

affirmative defense, nor otherwise move to compel arbitration at that time. The Answer made no 

mention of arbitration. A.0062-A.0087. Over the following four years, Petitioner actively 

participated in the litigation and sought the exercise of the circuit court's jurisdiction, including 

seeking a dispositive ruling in its favor by filing a Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings or in the 

Alternative for Summary Judgment. A.0243-A.0245. Prior to making any attempt to raise 

arbitration as an affirmative defense, Petitioner responded and objected to Interrogatories and 

Requ,ests for Production of Documents. A.0088-A.0130. Petitioner filed an Amended Answer 

asserting an additional nine affirmative defenses, but again failed to raise arbitration. A.0141-

A.0 145. Thereafter, Petitioner filed a Motion to Amend the Amended Answer to add an additional 

affirmative defense unrelated to arbitration. AO l 96-A.0202. Petitioner repeatedly invoked the trial 

court's jurisdiction to conduct discovery conferences, consider case status and management issues, 

a motion for protective order and noticed those issues for hearings. A.0146-A.0148; A.0189-

A.0191. Upon the deaths of Respondents' mothers Petitioner filed Suggestions of Death and later 

opposed Respondents' motion to substitute their mothers' estates as named plaintiffs. A.0192-

A.0195; A.0203-A.0213. 

Petitioner first asserted a right to arbitration on July 14, 2017, in a Supplemental Motion 

for Leave to Amend the Answer to add an arbitration defense after nearly seven months of active 
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litigation. A.022 l-A.0232. Three days later, Petitioner filed the Motion for Judgment on the 

Pleadings, or in the Alternative Motion for Summary Judgment refe1Ted to above in which 

Petitioner argued that the deceptive trade practice claims asserted by Respondents did not survive 

their mothers' deaths. A.0243-A.0245. Both the motion to amend to add an arbitration defense 

and the motion seeking judgment in Petitioner's favor were heard on November 13, 2017. A.0444-

A.0540. Thereafter Petitioner engaged in supplemental briefing in supp01i of its motion seeking 

judgment in its favor. A.0725-A.0737. The trial court ultimately entered an order on March 12, 

2019 which granted leave for Petitioner to amend its Answer but denied its motion for summary 

judgment. A.0738-0744. In anticipation of Petitioner filing a motion to compel arbitration, on 

May 29, 2019, the trial court entered an "Agreed Proposed Order" which provided for the paiiies 

to engage in arbitration-related discovery and documented the parties' agreement that, upon entry 

of an order on the Motion to Compel Arbitration, the arbitration and survivability issues would be 

taken in one appeal. A.0755-A.0757. Petitioner's Notice of Appeal and Brief assigns error only 

to the Order denying Petitioner's Motion to Compel Arbitration. Petitioner did not seek 

certification of any issues related to survivability. Instead, in a letter to the trial court, Petitioner 

expressed its intention to relitigate the question of whether the claims abated at death before an 

arbitrator, should it prevail in this appeal. A.1413-A.1420. And quite strangely, despite having 

invoked the lower court's jurisdiction to seek summary judgement in its favor, Petitioner blames 

the lower court for entertaining and ruling on the very motion for summary judgment Petitioner 

filed, a position that tacitly concedes Petitioner waived the right to arbitrate by seeking judgment 

in its favor. 

Petitioner filed a Motion to Compel Arbitration on June 5, 2019, two years and seven 

months after Respondents initiated this action. A.0807-A.0861. Discovery related to arbitration 

was underway but not complete by the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic. Due to challenges 
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presented by the pandemic, and the interest in moving the case forward in the meantime, the parties 

agreed that "the issues related to whether this case should be arbitrated should be staged." A.0865. 

The Joint Status Conference Report documenting this agreement provided for the Parties to brief 

those arbitration issues the lower court could determine as a matter oflaw and specifically reserved 

discovery and briefing on the arbitration issues requiring factual development for the future. 

A.0865-A.0868. Petitioner acknowledged that the issues requiring factual development include 

questions surrounding formation and execution of the Residency Agreements and whether they 

were contracts of adhesion or were unconscionable and therefore unenforceable. A. 0991-0892. 

Respondents moved for Partial Summary Judgment on two issues they argued would 

require denial of the Motion to Compel Arbitration: (1) that the arbitration agreement is invalid 

on its face because it does not comply with the rules Petitioner incorporated into its standard 

agreement which would result in dismissal of arbitration under those rules; and (2) Respondent 

objectively waived any right to compel arbitration through its extensive docketed litigation in the 

trial court, including seeking judgment in its favor. A.0869-A. l 026. Petitioner filed a Response 

to the Motion for Paiiial Summary Judgment, A.1182-1199, in response to which Respondent filed 

a reply. A.1220-A.1235. 

In turn, Petitioner filed an Amended Brief in Supp01i of Motion to Compel Arbitration 

arguing, among other matters, that fact-based issues the parties had reserved for the future (if 

necessary, but only after factual development) warranted arbitration being compelled. A. I 079-

A. l l 72. Nine days later Petitioner filed a Supplemental Brief in Support of Motion to Compel 

Arbitration. A.1177-1181. Respondents filed a Response in Opposition to Defendant's Briefs, 

spotlighting the fact that Petitioner's motion relied on a declaration from a witness Respondents 

had not yet deposed, represented the contents of the declaration to be "undisputed," and sought to 
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litigate issues that, by agreement of the parties later confirmed by court order, were reserved for 

future litigation if Respondents did not prevail on their Motion. A.1200-A.1325. 

Respondents' Opposition also refuted Petitioner's assertion, repeated in its Brief, that it 

delayed raising arbitration in the lower court case until this Court decided Bluestem Brands, Inc. 

v. Shade, 239 W.Va. 694, 805 S.E.2d 805 (2017). According to Petitioner, prior to Bluestem it 

was not settled law that a non-signatory to an agreement may enforce the arbitration agreement 

and so it could not have "knowingly" waived its right to invoke the arbitration clauses in the 

Residency Agreements. Not so for many reasons. First, the Bluestem opinion simply reiterated 

and applied well-established case law on this issue and was in no way an "announcement" of a 

new "affirmative legal right," which is consistent with the fact that Petitioner raised arbitration 

below, although belatedly, three months prior to Bluestem in a Supplemental Motion for Leave to 

Amend. [Compare October 6, 2017 (Bluestem decision) with July 14, 2017 (Petitioner filed 

Supplemental Motion for Leave to Amend the Answer)]. 

Despite Petitioner's baffling assertion that its Supplemental Motion to add an arbitration 

defense did not actually raise arbitration because it was then only "foreseeable" that Petitioner 

could enforce arbitration, the language of its Supplemental Motion proves otherwise. Petitioner's 

July 14 Motion seeking leave to add an arbitration defense stated that "even as a non-signatory to 

the Assisted Living Agreements Chancellor is entitled to enforce the arbitration provision ... and 

therefore, the defendant desires to assert as a defense in this matter that the claims asserted are 

subject to a valid arbitration agreement." A.0225. Beyond that, the Motion for Leave to Amend 

to add an arbitration defense was heard on November 13, 2017, after the Bluestem decision that 

purportedly created a sea change in the law. Yet during the hearing, during which Petitioner 

vigorously argued it should be granted leave to assert an arbitration defense, Petitioner did not 

mention the Bluestem case. 
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A month and a half after the argument on its Motion for Leave, Petitioner filed a 

Supplement to Supplemental Motion for Leave to Amend the Answer, citing Bluestem for the first 

time to support the position it had already been taking for the preceding six months. A.0541.

A.453. Undeterred by facts evident on the face of the docket, Petitioner's Brief boldly proclaims 

that after Bluestem "Petitioner immediately invoked the arbitration provision by filing a 

Supplement to Supplemental Motion for Leave to Amend the Answer to assert arbitration as a 

defense on December 29, 2017." Pet's Brief, p. 11. The Record provides otherwise. The 

Supplemental Motion for Leave had been filed many months before Bluestem, albeit belatedly, 

asserting the very right to arbitration Petitioner now wants to claim it did not possess before 

Bluestem. 

Finally, although it was discussed extensively in the circuit court, including in 

Respondent's Opposition to the Motion to Compel Arbitration, Petitioner's Brief omits reference 

to Kelley v. Beckley Health Partners, LTD ... and Chancellor Senior Management, Ltd, Case No. 

14-C-618-H (Circuit Court of Raleigh County, W.Va.) A.0592-A.0594; A.0644-0672; A.0881-

0882; A.0999-A.1027. Kelley was a Raleigh County case in which Petitioner was a defendant and 

an identical arbitration provision was contained in an identical Residency Agreement. There, 

nearly two years before this case was filed, Petitioner timely raised arbitration. Petitioner's 

decision not to timely assert an arbitration defense in this case might be readily explained by the 

fact that the Kelley court found the identical arbitration provision to be procedurally and 

substantively unconscionable based on discovery taken in the case and denied the motion to 

compel arbitration. A.0644-0652. The Kelley court also found Petitioner's arbitration provision to 

be a contract of adhesion. Id The court made the factual finding that, among other infirmities, the 

"Agreement allowed the defendants to pursue any claims they may have in a civil court" while 

denying the Kelley plaintiff access to a civil court, as she was "required to bring any and all 
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claims ... against defendants through arbitration .... " Id. The court noted that the Residency 

Agreement also "allowed defendants to collect attorney fees and expenses for pursuing their 

claims, win or lose" while the arbitration provision required the Kelley plaintiff to be "responsible 

for half of the arbitration expenses, win or lose." A.0645. Finally, the Kelley court found the 

"defendants" of which Petitioner was one, "wrote the agreement." Id. 

Understandably, Petitioner has sought to distance itself from Kelley, going so far as to 

represent that "the pleadings in Kelley are devoid of any assertion by Chancellor of a right to 

enforce the arbitration." A.1195. This assertion is simply inaccurate, and the facts are inescapable. 

Petitioner (Chancellor) filed a motion to compel arbitration in Kelley on October 14, 2014, nearly 

two years before the Complaint in this case was filed. A.1027-1079; A.0001-A.0030. And, the 

denial of Petitioner's motion to compel arbitration in Kelley occurred December 12, 2016, just 3 5 

days before it filed its first Answer in this case. A.0644-0652; A.0062-A.0088. The Kelley 

pleadings, on their face, confirm that Petitioner had knowledge of a right to move to compel 

arbitration, had previously raised it in other litigation, and decided not to assert it in this case -

until it changed its mind. Kelley also directly contradicts Petitioner's effort to invoke Bluestem as 

an explanation for its clear waiver of arbitration in this case for the reason that, in Kelley, Petitioner 

asse1ied its right to compel arbitration long before the Court acknowledged that long-standing right 

in Bluestem. 

Following Respondent's Opposition to Petitioner's Motion to Compel Arbitration, 

Petitioner filed a Reply in supp01i of its motion. A.1128-1219. Shortly thereafter, Petitioner filed 

a Surreply. A.1326-A.1379. Strangely, this Surreply - the very last brief filed on the arbitration 

issue - attached a new Declaration from Petitioner's Director of Administrative Services adopting 

its counsel's circular Bluestem justification for the failure to timely raise arbitration in the trial 

court. A.1372-1374. 
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On October 2, 2020, the lower entered its Order denying Petitioner's Motion to Compel 

Arbitration. A. 1390-1395. Petitioner filed its Notice of Appeal four days later. A.1396. 

II. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

The arbitration provision at issue is fatally flawed, and arbitration could not be compelled 

for two reasons. First, due to the failure of the agreement to comply with the specific dictates of 

Rule 2.1 of AHLA's Rules of Procedure, the parties' chosen forum, the AHLA, would not accept 

the case. Second, no alternate forum could properly accept the case because any substitute 

arbitrator would be required to apply the AHLA rules the parties unequivocally incorporated into 

the arbitration provision, rendering any arbitral forum unavailable. The parties agreed that the 

arbitration provision "clearly and unambiguously" provided for arbitration to be conducted in 

accordance with the AHLA's current Rules. Petitioner argued only that the AHLA's unavailability 

should not render the arbitration provision unenforceable, and that Rules 2.1 and 2.4 are not rules 

of procedure and therefore only bind the AHLA. A.1182-1187. In its Order denying the Motion to 

Compel Arbitration, the circuit court stated it did not understand the argument concerning the 

unavailability of the agreement's chosen arbitral forum, but that nonetheless the failure of the 

agreement to comply with its own stated standards rendered it invalid. A.1394. 

Petitioner's primary argument on appeal presents an entirely new issue not raised below

that the parties "could not have" intended that AHLA Rules 2.1 and 2.4 would apply to the 

arbitration agreement. Petitioner supports this new argument with new evidence attached as 

exhibits to its Brief that were never introduced in the proceedings below, seeking to escape the 

unavoidable outcome of its admission that the arbitration provision is clear and unambiguous. 

With its new argument and new evidence, Petitioner invites this Court to look beyond the text of 

the agreement, speculate as to the parties' intentions at the time of execution, and substitute the 
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Court's speculation for the clear expression of the intent to adopt the AHLA Rules found on the 

face of the parties' signed agreement.3 

Now in a rhetorical pretzel, Petitioner attempts to bridge the gap between unambiguous 

contractual terms incorporating the AHLA Rules into the parties' agreement and its self-serving 

assertions of the parties' intentions by arguing that the circuit court imposed "Standards of 

Enforceability" not recognized in the law. This attempt to inject ambiguity into the arbitration 

provision (which Petitioner must make to justify arguments regarding the parties' intentions and 

reliance on extrinsic evidence) without overtly challenging an agreement it repeatedly argued was 

clear and unambiguous runs contrary to well-established standards governing contract 

interpretation. It is improper to consider extrinsic evidence when the language of an agreement is 

clear and unambiguous. Moreover, even if an ambiguity exists - which it does not - Petitioner 

drafted the agreement, and any purported ambiguity must be resolved against it. 

The plain language of the arbitration provision makes clear the parties unequivocally 

intended that "[a]ny arbitration conducted pursuant to this Section X shall be conducted in Cabell 

County, West Virginia in accordance with the American Health Lawyers Association ("AHLA") 

Alternative Dispute Resolution Service Rules of Procedure for Arbitration." Petitioner's 

concession that the arbitration provision is clear and unambiguous, A.1329, compels the 

conclusion that the parties intended that all of the Rules of Procedure apply, not just certain rules. 

Rules 2.1 and 2.4 are inarguably contained within the AHLA Rules of Procedure. A.0963-0973. 

Nothing in the arbitration provision suggests that the parties intended to pick and choose which of 

3 As alluded to above, Petitioner's use of the prior AHLA Rules in this appeal has shifted since the Brief. 
In its opposition to Respondent's Motion to Strike the exhibits Petitioner argues the lower court erred in 
applying the current rules despite the fact Petitioner agreed that the current Rules apply, never brought the 
earlier Rules to the com1's attention and most importantly, every version of the Rules unambiguously 
mandate that the Rules in effect at the time of the dispute apply. See Petitioner's Response to Respondents' 
Motion to Strike Exhibits Attached to Petitioner's Brief and Motion for Leave of Court to Supplement the 
Record (dated March 10, 2021). 
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the AHLA Rules of Procedure would apply once a dispute arose. And despite repeatedly 

acknowledging the applicability of the AHLA Rules and insisting, in the circuit court, that these 

Rules could be applied by a substitute arbitrator, Petitioner now argues that it was error for the 

circuit court to find that the Rules were incorporated into the parties' agreement. None of 

Petitioner's arguments warrants reversal of the concise and straightforward finding of the circuit 

court that the provision's failure to adhere to the rules the parties' incorporated into the arbitration 

agreement rendered it unenforceable. 

Additionally, the arbitration agreement is unenforceable due to the unavailability of the 

AHLA as the arbitral forum. This is because the selection of the AHLA as the arbitral forum is 

integral to the parties' agreement, which is demonstrated by the specific and exclusive reference 

to the AHLA in the arbitration provision, the incorporation of its rules, the breadth of those rules, 

the mandatory language of the arbitration provision, the requirement that the filing fee be paid to 

AHLA, and the direction to the paiiies to the AHLA for information concerning the arbitral 

process. Notably, the AHLA Rules require an express designation of an alternative arbitrator to 

overcome an arbitration provision's failure to comply with the requirements of Rule 2.1. It is 

undisputed that the arbitration provision does not comply with the AHLA Rules, that the AHLA 

would not accept an arbitration in this case, and that the arbitration provision includes no alternate 

designation. It is well established that the unavailability of an arbitral forum is proper grounds for 

refusing to enforce an arbitration provision when, as here, the selection of the arbitral forum was 

an integral part of the paiiies' agreement. Although the circuit comi did not deny Petitioner's 

Motion to Compel Arbitration for this precise reason, the unavailability of the AHLA as the 

parties' chosen arbitral forum is an alternative basis to affirm the circuit court's order. 

Finally, Petitioner objectively waived anf right to arbitrate Respondents' claims by 

substantially invoking the judicial process before and after belatedly attempting to assert a right to 

12 



arbitration. Petitioner's docketed litigation activity, described in detail above, demonstrates that it 

acted inconsistently with the right to arbitrate and evinced a desire to obtain resolution in its favor 

from the circuit court. Petitioner's litigation activity included filing three Answers without raising 

an arbitration defense, engaging in discovery-related practice, submitting a proposed case 

management schedule and order and, most notably, seeking summary judgment in its favor from 

the circuit comi. Petitioner urges that it did not know it had the right to arbitration before this 

Court's decision in Bluestem, but this explanation is squarely contradicted by its motion seeking 

leave to add an affirmative defense of arbitration six months before the Bluestem decision, as well 

as its conduct in the Kelley case. Petitioner's waiver of any right to arbitration stands as an 

alternative basis to affirm the circuit court's order. 

III. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION 

Respondents agree that oral argument is suitable pursuant to West Virginia Rule of 

Appellate Procedure 19 because Petitioner's assignment of error concerns the application of settled 

law. Respondents believe that this case is appropriate for issuance of a memorandum decision, 

pursuant to West Virginia Rule of Appellate Procedure 21(c). Petitioner's appeal involves (1) no 

substantial question of law and (2) there is no prejudicial e1Tor considering the applicable standard 

of review for Petitioner's assignments of enor. 

IV. ARGUMENT 

A. STANDARD OF APPELLATE REVIEW 

This Court reviews the analysis of arbitration agreements de novo. "When an appeal from 

an order denying a motion to dismiss and to compel arbitration is properly before the Supreme 

Court of Appeals, the Supreme Court of Appeals review is de novo." W Va. CVS Pharmacy LLC 

v. McDowell Pharmacy Inc., Syl. Pt. 1,238 W. Va. 465, 795 S.E.2d 574 (2017). 
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B. THE CIRCUIT COURT'S RULING PROPERLY DENIED PETITIONER'S 
MOTION TO COMPEL ARBITRATION 

The parties' intent that the American Health Lawyers Association Alternative Dispute 

Resolution Service Rules of Procedure for Arbitration apply in their entirety is clear from the 

language of the unambiguous arbitration agreements. The agreements indisputably fail to comply 

with the requirements of ARLA Rule 2.1. And ARLA Rule 2.4 states that any agreement failing 

to comply with Rule 2.1 shall be dismissed. Because any arbitrator would be required to apply 

these rules, any and every arbitral forum is unavailable, rendering the provision unenforceable. 

Petitioner's argument concerning its contrary intentions raises issues and argument for the first 

time on appeal inappropriately attempts to establish that the arbitration agreement is ambiguous 

by proffering evidence not paii of the record below. Finally, the ARLA Rules are properly 

incorporated by reference into the arbitration agreements. For these reasons, more fully discussed 

below, the circuit court properly denied Petitioner's Motion to Compel Arbitration. 

1. The Parties' Intent that the American Health Lawyers Association Alternative 
Dispute Resolution Service Rules of Procedure for Arbitration Apply in their Entirety 
is Clear from the Express Language of the Agreement. 

Petitioner did not raise below whether the parties intended that the ARLA Rules of 

Procedure in their entirety would apply to the arbitration provision and the circuit court did not 

reach this issue. In fact, Petitioner itself repeatedly asserted that the arbitration agreement is "clear 

and unambiguous" and resolution of the question before the circuit court did not require factual 

development. Respondents agree. Accordingly, the circuit corni did not find the agreement to be 

ambiguous, and therefore did not undertake the type of contract interpretation that Petitioner now 

urges is necessary on appeal. "A valid written instrument which expresses the intent of the parties 

in plain and unambiguous language is not subject to judicial construction or interpretation but will 

be applied and enforced according to such intent." Ascent Res. - Marcellus, LLC v. Huffman, 851 

S.E.2d 782, 788 (W. Va. 2020). In determining whether arbitration could be compelled, the circuit 
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court correctly applied and enforced the language of the arbitration provision contained in the 

Respondents' Residency Agreements according to the expressed intent. 

The arbitration agreement provides: 

D. CONDUCT OF BINDING ARBITRATION 

You understand that by hereby agreeing to arbitrate legal disputes means 
that you are waiving your right to sue in a court of law and to a trial by jury. 
You agree to arbitrate disputes by signing this Agreement. The decision of 
the arbitrator(s) shall be final and binding and may not be appealed nor may 
it be stayed. The arbitration will be conducted as follows: Any arbitration 
conducted pursuant to this Section X shall be conducted in Cabell 
County, West Virginia in accordance with the American Health 
Lawyers Association ("AHLA") Alternative Dispute Resolution 
Service Rules of Procedure for Arbitration. The award rendered by the 
arbitrator(s) shall be final, and judgment on the award shall be entered in 
accordance with applicable law in any court having jurisdiction thereof. The 
paiiies understai1d that arbitration proceedings are not free and that any 
person requesting arbitration will be required to pay a filing fee to AHLA 
and other expenses; however, the parties agree to divide the arbitration 
expenses equally. If you would like information regarding AHLA's 
Alternative Dispute Resolution Service, you may contact AHLA at (202) 
833-1100 or Suite 600, 1025 Connecticut Avenue NW, Washington, DC 
20036-5405. 

A.0779; A.0798. (emphasis added). 

The plain language of this provision demonstrates that the parties unequivocally intended 

that "[a]ny arbitration conducted pursuant to this Section X shall be conducted in Cabell County, 

West Virginia in accordance with the American Health Lawyers Association ("AHLA") 

Alternative Dispute Resolution Service Rules of Procedure for Arbitration." (emphasis added). 

Equally elem· and unambiguous is the language incorporating the entire set of Rules of Procedure, 

not just ce1iain of the procedural rules. Rules 2.1 and 2.4 are undeniably contained within the 

AHLA Rules of Procedure. A.0963-0973. Moreover, nothing in the arbitration provision suggests 

the parties actually intended to pick and choose which of the Rules of Procedure would apply once 

a dispute arose. Accordingly, after determining that the paiiies intended that the AHLA Rules of 

Procedure would apply, the circuit court considered whether application of Rules 2.1 and 2.4 

rendered the arbitration agreement facially flawed and unenforceable. It concluded that they did. 
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AHLA Rule of Procedure 2.1 lays out the specific requirements with which an arbitration 

agreement must comply: 

2.1 Requirements 

To file a claim, a party must complete and submit the claim form on the 
AHLA web-site, pay the applicable fees listed in Exhibit 3 and on the form, 
provide a statement describing the issue(s) to be arbitrated, and either 
provide a copy of an agreement to arbitrate or a couti order requiring 
arbitration of the claim under the Rules or cite a statute or regulation 
authorizing or requiring arbitration under the Rules. 

If the agreement to arbitrate was signed before the events giving rise to the 
claim occurred, the agreement must: 

(1) be a separate document conspicuously identified as an agreement to 
arbitrate; 

(2) include the following notice, or substantially similar language, in a 
conspicuous location: 

Voluntary Agreement to Arbitrate 

THIS AGREEMENT GOVERNS IMPORTANT LEGAL RIGHTS. 
PLEASE READ IT CAREFULLY BEFORE SIGNING. 

This is a voluntary agreement to resolve any dispute that may arise in 
the future between the parties under the American Health Lawyers 
Association's Rules of Procedure for Arbitration. In arbitration, a 
neutral third party chosen by the parties issues a final, binding 
decision. When parties agree to arbitrate, they waive their right to a 
trial by jury and the possibility of an appeal. 

(3) state conspicuously that the health care entity will provide the same 
care or treatment, without delay, if the agreement is not signed; and 

(4) explicitly grant the resident or his or her representative the right to 
rescind the agreement within 30 calendar days of signing it (unless a state 
law applicable to contracts generally grants a longer period for revocation). 

A.0972 ( emphasis in original). 

The arbitration provision Petitioner drafted fails to satisfy this clear and specific Rule. The 

arbitration provision is buried in the Residency Agreements and nowhere states that it is a 

"voluntary agreement," as required by the Rule. It fails to advise residents that the facility does 

not make providing health care contingent on signing the arbitration agreement, and it does not 
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provide a 30-day post-signing grace period for revoking the agreement. Petitioner's Assignment 

of Error misleadingly states that "the circuit court refused to enforce a clear and comprehensive 

written agreement to arbitrate all disputes ... because the arbitration provisions are not in separate 

agreements." Pet.'s Brief, p. 1. (emphasis added). But the deficiencies in the arbitration provision 

constitute more than just a failure to be a separate agreement. As is clear from the circuit court's 

order, its refusal to compel arbitration is due to the agreements' unmistakable failure to adhere to 

the specific rules the parties agreed would apply, and not, as Petitioner suggests, because it invoked 

a novel or inappropriate "standard of enforceability." 

The outcome below is neither remarkable nor absurd. It is well established that arbitration 

agreements are "to be treated by courts like any other contract, nothing more, and nothing less." 

Brown ex rel. Brown v. Genesis Healthcare Corp., 228 W. Va. 646, 671, 724 S.E.2d 250, 275 

(2011), overruled in part on other grounds, Marmet Health Care Ctr., Inc. v. Brown, 565 U.S. 

530, 132 S. Ct. 1201, 182 L. Ed. 2d 42 (2012). This Court has stated that the "FAA has no 

talismanic effect; it does not elevate arbitration clauses to a level of importance above all other 

contract terms." Id. This is because "the federal policy is simply to ensure the enforceability, 

according to their terms, of private agreements to arbitrate." Id. (internal citations omitted). It is 

therefore a "fundamental principle that arbitration is a matter of contract," and "[t]he FAA ... places 

arbitration agreements on an equal footing with other contracts, and requires courts to enforce 

them according to their terms." Id. (internal citations omitted). Furthermore, "[i]t is not the right 

or province of a court to alter, pervert or destroy the clear meaning and intent of the parties as 

expressed in unambiguous language in their written contract or to make a new or different contract 

for them." Syllabus Point 3, Cotiga Development Co. v. United Fuel Gas Co., 147 W.Va. 484, 128 

S.E.2d 626 (1962). 
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Courts routinely refuse to enforce arbitration agreements that fail to satisfy the rules the 

parties agreed would govern them. See Magnolia Healthcare, Inc. v. Barnes ex rel. Grigsby, 994 

So. 2d 159, 162 (Miss. 2008) (finding no error in lower court's refusal to enforce arbitration when 

it was undisputed that the parties did not agree to arbitrate the claim after the injury occurred, as 

required by the AHLA Rule of Procedure 1.01, which was incorporated into the admissions 

agreement at the behest of the defendant); Rudolph v. Manor Estates, Inc., No. A-1-CA-35862, 

2019 WL 2121293, at *5-6 (N.M. Ct. App. May 13, 2019), cert. denied sub nom. Rudolph v. Manor 

Estat'(!s, 2019-NMCERT-010, ,r 24 (affirming denial of motion to compel arbitration when 

designation of AHLA was material and integral to the arbitration agreement admission agreement 

and Residency Agreement did not comply with Rule l l .5's mandatory form and language 

requirements, "which is guided and informed by Rule 1 l .5's purpose to draw a consumer's 

attention to the arbitration agreement's distinct features that affe~t legal rights".). 

Moreover, AHLA Rule of Procedure 2.4 does not, as Petitioner suggests, limit application 

of Rule 2.1 to whether the AHLA itself will refuse to administer an arbitration. Instead, Rule 2.4 

lays out a specific procedure for determining whether an arbitration will be administered at all. 

This includes a hearing and the issuance of either an interim award finding the agreement complies 

with Rule 2.1 or a Final Award terminating the arbitration: 

2.4 Hearing on Administration of Arbitration 

(a) SCHEDULING. If a Consumer claims the agreement to arbitrate fails 
to comply with the requirements listed in Rule 2.1, the arbitrator, once 
appointed, will promptly schedule a preliminary hearing on this issue. The 
arbitrator may conduct the hearing by telephone, by video conference, 
and/or by submission of briefs. 

(b) DETERMINATION. Within ten (10) days after the preliminary hearing 
. is closed, the arbitrator will issue an award determining whether the 

agreement to arbitrate satisfies the requirements set forth in Rule 2.1. If the 
arbitrator determines that the agreement does not satisfy the requirements, 
the arbitrator will issue a Final A ward terminating the arbitration without 
prejudice to any claims or defenses. The Final A ward may order the Health 
Care Entity to pay all the costs and fees of arbitration, including the filing 
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fee. If the arbitrator determines the agreement satisfies the requirements, the 
arbitrator will issue an interim award to that effect. Any determination under 
this section not to administer the arbitration shall not be considered a 
determination on the validity of the arbitration agreement, and the parties 
may arbitrate in another forum if their agreement so provides or if they 
otherwise agree. 

A.0973. Lacking any support for its argument that application of Rule 2.4 is narrower than 

the Rule's plain language, Petitioner re-writes the Rule to its liking and suggests that this reading 

indicates the AHLA did not intend to create a "Standard of Enforceability".4 In particular, 

Petitioner states that Rule 2.4 provides that "an arbitration agreement's failure to meet the 

requirements of Rule 2.1 does not affect the validity and enforceability of the arbitration 

agreement, but is only relevant as to whether the AHLA will administer the arbitration." Pet's 

Brief, p. 23 ( emphasis added). Yet the word "enforceability" is entirely absent from the plain 

language of Rule 2.4. Indeed, the provision requires that any arbitrator, whether or not the 

arbitrator is the AHLA, apply the AHLA Rules. The failure to comply with Rule 2.1 renders the 

provision unenforceable because it in effect makes any arbitral forum unavailable under Rule 2.4. 

Ironically, having just argued the parties did not intend for Rules 2.1 and 2.4 to apply, 

Petitioner's Brief reverses course and invokes Rule 2.4' s phrase that "the parties may arbitrate in 

another forum if their agreement so provides or if they otherwise agree" as evidence of"the parties' 

intent that the arbitration may be conducted in an alternate forum." Id. The simple fact is that 

Petitioner's arbitration provision does not provide for an alternate forum and the internal 

inconsistency of Petitioner's argument exposes its lack of merit. On one hand Petitioner argues 

the absurdity of finding an intention that Rules 2.1 and 2.4 would apply to the arbitration provision, 

4 In certain instances, Petitioner argues that "the ARLA did not intend that Rule 2.1 create a standard of 
enforceability of the arbitration agreement." Pet's Brief, p. 22. Petitioner provides no legal authority that 
would establish the relevance or applicability of an arbitral forum's "intentions" to the question of whether 
an arbitration agreement is enforceable. Respondent responds to Petitioner's arguments construing the plain 
language of the Rules themselves and their applicability to the arbitration agreement. Respondent does not 
concede that the AHLA's intentions are instructive and maintains that in the face of a clear and 
unambiguous provision in the arbitration agreement to adopt the Rules, the AHLA's purported intentions 
are irrelevant. 
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while. simultaneously relying on a single sentence in Rule 2.4 to support its assertion that the parties 

never intended the Rule to apply. This argument should be rejected. 

2. Petitioner's Argument Concerning its Intent Raises Issues and Argument for the First 
Time on Appeal and is an Inappropriate Attempt to Establish that the Arbitration 
Agreement is Ambiguous. 

Facing the implications of its repeated concession that the arbitration agreement is clear 

and unambiguous, Petitioner claims it did not intend that the AHLA Rules would apply in their 

entirety. Petitioner does not affirmatively retreat from its position that the arbitration agreements 

are unambiguous as this would undermine the error it has assigned. But the Briefs discussion of 

intention, no matter how indirectly raised, must be addressed because it seeks to avoid the express 

language in the arbitration provision that clearly requires any arbitration shall be conducted "in 

accordance with the American Health Lawyers Association ("AHLA") Alternative Dispute 

Resolution Service Rules of Procedure for Arbitration." This new argument can only mean that 

Petitioner now argues that an ambiguity exists. 

Petitioner seeks rescue from failing to raise this argument below and hopes that this Court 

will read between the lines and find an ambiguity concerning the parties' intent. But such a holding 

would then require consideration of parol evidence to resolve this supposed ambiguity. Gastar 

Exp!. Inc. v. Rine, 239 W. Va. 792, 799, 806 S.E.2d 448, 455 (2017) ("Proper parol evidence is 

admissible to explain a latent ambiguity in a written contract, and a latent ambiguity is one which 

arises not upon the words of the instrument, as looked at in themselves, but upon those words when 

applied to the object sought to be accomplished by the contract or the subject which they 

describe.") (citing Syllabus Point 10, Paxton v. Benedum-Trees Oil Co., 80 W.Va. 187, 94 S.E. 

472 (1917)). Petitioner has attached the parol evidence it would like this Court to consider as 

exhibits to its brief, namely two previous versions of the AHLA Rules of Procedure and the AHLA 

Guide to Arbitrations, Exhibits A and B to the Brief. Petitioner did not submit these documents in 
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the record below, they were not considered by the circuit court when Petitioner filed its Motion to 

Compel Arbitration, and Respondents have moved to strike the exhibits. See Respondents' Motion 

to Strike Exhibits Attached to Petitioner's Brief which were not submitted to the Trial Court and 

are Not Properly of record (filed March 5, 2021). 5 

As an initial matter, Petitioner should not be permitted to make arguments concerning the 

parties' intent for the first time on appeal. This Court has repeatedly recognized a general rule that 

"when nonjurisdictional questions have not been decided at the trial court level and are then first 

raised before this Court, they will not be considered on appeal." Whitlow v. Bd. of Educ. of 

Kanawha Cty., 190 W. Va. 223, 226, 438 S.E.2d 15, 18 (1993); Shrewsbury v. Humphrey, 183 

W.Va. 291,395 S.E.2d 535 (1990); Cline v. Roark, 179 W.Va. 482,370 S.E.2d 138 (1988); Crain 

v. Lightner, 178 W.Va. 765,364 S.E.2d 778 (1987); Trumka v. Clerk of the Circuit Court, 175 

W.Va. 371,332 S.E.2d 826 (1985). This Court has explained the rationale behind this rule: "when 

an issue has not been raised below, the facts underlying that issue will not have been developed in 

such 'a way so that a disposition can be made on appeal." Whitlow, 190 W.Va. at 226. And in 

addition to the "manifest[] unfair[ness] for a patty to raise new issues on appeal[,]" there is also a 

practical "need to have the issue refined, developed, and adjudicated by the trial court, so that we 

may have the benefit of its wisdom." Id. 

Furthermore, consideration of Petitioner's exhibits to resolve its newly raised argument 

would be improper. These documents were never considered by the trial court and were never 

made part of the record. In Response to Respondent's Motion to Strike these exhibits, Petitioner 

has moved to supplement the appendix with the documents that constitute its exhibits. See 

Petitioner's Response to Respondents' Motion to Strike Exhibits Attached to Petitioner's Brief and 

5This Motion, along with the Petitioner's Response referenced above in footnote 3, supra, was filed directly 
with this Court pursuant to Rule 29 of the West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure. 
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Motion for Leave of Court to Supplement the Record (dated March 10, 2021). This Court has 

held: "The appellate review of a ruling of a circuit court is limited to the very record there made 

and will not take into consideration any matter which is not a part of that record." Martin v. 

Barbour Cty. Bd. of Educ., 228 W. Va. 238,243, 719 S.E.2d 406,411 (2011) (refusing to consider 

attachments and facts therein that were not part of the record in the circuit court), quoting syl. pt. 2, 

State v. Bosley, 159 W.Va. 67,218 S.E.2d 894 (1975). It is a "steadfast" rule that the "record may 

not be enhanced or broadened on appeal except by the methods discussed or by the stipulation of 

the parties." Powderidge Unit Owners Ass'n v. Highland Properties, Ltd., 196 W. Va. 692, 703, 

474 S.E.2d 872,883 (1996); O'Neal v. Peake Operating Co., 185 W.Va. 28,404 S.E.2d 420 (1991) 

(this Court may only consider matters appearing in the trial record). 

Nevertheless, even if Petitioner had raised its arguments concerning the intent of the paiiies 

and submitted its exhibits to the circuit court, the fact remains that there is no basis to conclude 

that an ambiguity exists regarding the provision's adoption of the AHLA Rules in their entirety. 

For this reason, the circuit comi could not properly have looked behind the express language to 

consider extrinsic evidence to construe the agreement even if the argument had been made below. 

Under West Virginia law, "where the terms of a contract are clear and unambiguous, they 

must be applied and not construed." Waddy v. Riggleman, 216 W.Va. 250, 606 S.E.2d 222, 233 

(2004). And "[w]hen a written contract is clear and unambiguous its meaning and legal effect 

must 'be determined solely from its contents and it will be given full force and effect according to 

its plain terms and provisions. Extrinsic evidence of the parties to such contract, or of other 

persons, as to its meaning and effect will not be considered." Dan's Carworld, LLC v. Serian, 223 

W.Va. 478,482, 677 S.E.2d 914, 919 (2009) (quoting Kanawha Banking & Tr. Co. v. Gilbert, 131 

W.Va. 88, 46 S.E.2d 225,227 (1947)). "The mere fact that parties do not agree to the construction 

of a contract does not render it ambiguous." Energy Dev. Corp. v. Moss, 214 W.Va. 577, 591 
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S.E.2d 135,143 (2003) (quoting Berkeley Cty. Pub. Serv. Dist. v. Vitro Corp. of Am., 152 W. Va. 

252, 267, 162 S.E.2d 189, 200 (1968)). As this Court has "clearly stated[,] 'in the absence of 

extraordinary circumstances, the failure to read a contract before signing it does not excuse a 

person from being bound by its terms."' Sedlock v. Moyle, 222 W. Va. 547, 551, 668 S.E.2d 176, 

180 (2008) ( quoting Reddy v. Community Health Found. of Man, 171 W.Va. 368, 3 73, 298 S.E.2d 

906, 910 (1982)). Petitioner has not argued it lacks capacity or did not understand the agreement 

or the AHLA Rules incorporated into the agreement, and "[ c ]ontracts are reduced to writing so 

that there can be no subsequent argument concerning the terms of an agreement. A person who 

fails to read a document to which he places his signature does so at his peril." Id. Nothing in 

Petitioner's arguments or its exhibits changes the clear and unambiguous language in the 

agreement itself adopting the AHLA Rules of Procedure. 

Nevertheless, Petitioner's attempt to inject ambiguity into the agreement on appeal, even 

if successful, fails to achieve the interpretation it seeks. 6 This is because "[i]t is well-settled that 

any ambiguity in a contract must be resolved against the party who prepared it." Nisbet v. Watson, 

162 W.Va. 522,530,251 S.E.2d 774, 780 (1979); CONSOL Energy, Inc. v. Hummel, 238 W. Va. 

114, 121-22, 792 S.E.2d 613, 620-21 (2016) (finding the circuit court correctly held that "to the 

extent any ambiguity exists, it must be interpreted most favorably to Plaintiffs."); Charlton v. 

Chevrolet Motor Co., 115 W.Va. 25, 174 S.E. 570 (1934) ("Uncertainties in an intricate and 

6 In addition to being inappropriately submitted and inapplicable, the previous versions of the AHLA Rules 
do not support Petitioner's substantive argument. In the 2012 version, Rule 7.06 clearly puts the parties on 
notice that amendments are possible, stating that "rules may be amended by the Service from time to time, 
which amendments thereafter become binding upon the parties to an arbitration pursuant to these Rules. 
Any reference to these Rules shall be construed to refer to these Rules as amended from time to time." 
Pet's Brief, Exhibit A, p.13. 

Furthermore, the 2014 version of the AHLA Rules were adopted on April 7, 2014 and were in place at the 
time Respondent Charlotte Rodgers entered into her Residency Agreement on July 4, 2014. Rule 11.5 in 
the 2014 version of the rules contains the same requirements that Rule 2.1 does in the current version. 
Petitioner cannot credibly take the position that it had no intention of being bound by the requirements in 
the 2014 version of the rules that were in effect when Respondent Rodgers entered into the agreement in 
2014. Pet's Brief, ExhibitB, p. 30. 
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involved contract should be resolved against the party who prepared it."); accord Jochum v. Waste 

Management of West Virginia, 224 W.Va. 44, 49, 680 S.E.2d 59, 64 (2009); syl. pt. 8, Estate of 

Tawney v. Columbia Natural Resources, 219 W.Va. 266, 268, 633 S.E.2d 22, 24 (2006); Combs 

v. McLynn, 187 W.Va. 490, 493, 419 S.E.2d 903, 906 (1992) (citing Nisbet). Petitioner drafted 

the Agreements, including the arbitration provision. This .is established by Petitioner's 

Management Agreement, which provides that Petitioner "shall negotiate all leases, licenses and 

use agreements affecting the community ... [ and] "shall use a form of lease, residence agreement 

or similar documents approved in advance by the Owner." Supp.A.1504. The factual findings in 

the Kelley case are consistent with this reality, as in Kelley, the court found that Petitioner, along 

with the other defendants "wrote the agreement." A.0644. 

Petitioner's intention arguments and the newly submitted exhibits tacitly concede that to 

escape its failure to comply with the terms of the arbitration provision Petitioner must take a 

position inconsistent with its previous assertions that the arbitration provision is clear and 

unambiguous. The Court need not reconcile these inconsistent positions to reach the ultimate 

question of whether arbitration should have been compelled here. The correct inquiry is not - as 

Petitioner suggests - whether the parties intended for the arbitration agreement to appear in a 

separate document but is instead whether the parties intended to adopt the AHLA Rules for 

Procedure. The only conclusion that can be reached from the clear and unambiguous language of 

the agreement is that they did. And because any arbitrator, whether the AHLA or a substitute, 

would be required to honor the parties' agreement to apply these rules, any arbitrator would be 

required to apply Rule 2.4 and dismiss an arbitration due to the agreement's failure to comply with 

Rule 2.1. This renders any and every arbitral forum unavailable. 

Stripped of rhetoric and distractions, Petitioner's argument is essentially this: because it 

failed to comply with the rules it inserted into its agreement, it must not have intended to adopt 
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them in the first place. A party's failure to satisfy rules adopted in its agreements simply does not 

support a finding that it lacked intention to adopt those rules. Such a finding would create an 

unworkable standard that would broadly imperil the finality and enforceability of contracts, in that 

any contracting party could then use its failure to comply with clear terms as evidence of never 

intending to include those terms at all. Petitioner's circular reasoning would disturb well

established principles governing contract formation and incorporation of documents by reference. 

The Court should decline to adopt such a standard. 

3. The AHLA Rules Are Properly Incorporated by Reference into the 
Arbitration Agreements. 

Petitioner also argues for the first time on appeal that AHLA Rule 2.1 was not properly 

incorporated into the arbitration provision. In the circuit court, the parties disputed the 

enforceability of the arbitration agreement but at all times agreed that the AHLA Rules apply. And 

Petitioner acknowledged in its Motion to Compel Arbitration that the current version of the AHLA 

Rules applies when a demand for arbitration is made. A.1108. At no point did Petitioner take the 

position that the AHLA Rules were not incorporated into the arbitration provision. Petitioner now 

argues it was error for the circuit court to fail to make findings on an argument it did not present 

despite having every opportunity to do so. 

Petitioner's Briefrecites the elements for a valid incorporation by reference, which are as 

follows: "(1) the writing must make a clear reference to the other document so that the parties' 

assent to the reference is unmistakable; (2) the writing must describe the other document in such 

terms that its identity may be ascertained beyond doubt; and (3) it must be certain that the parties 

to the agreement had knowledge of and assented to the incorporated document so that the 

incorporation will not result in surprise or hardship." State ex rel. U-Haul Co. of W Virginia v. 

Zakaib, 232 W. Va. 432, 443, 752 S.E.2d 586, 597 (2013). Here Petitioner argues that because 

each numbered AHLA Rule, including but presumably not limited to Rule 2.1, was not separately 
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referenced and described in the arbitration provision it does not meet the U-Haul test for 

incorporation by reference. This argument greatly expands the holding of U-Haul and imposes a 

burden on contracting parties that would destroy the concept of incorporation by reference. 

In U-Haul, the contract at issue made short mention of an "addendum" but failed to provide 

sufficient detail to ensure that the parties to the agreement had knowledge of and assented to what 

was hidden in the addendum - an arbitration agreement. Id. at 444. The passing reference to the 

addendum was insufficient to incorporate it by reference into the rental agreement because it did 

not contain a detailed description of the document. Id. This Comi found that the lack of a "detailed 

description is compounded by the fact that the Addendum itself was designed to look more like a 

document folder advertising U-Haul products, services, and drop-off procedures, rather than a 

legally binding contractual agreement." Id. Fmthermore, this Court found it "most troubling" that 

"U-Haul's practice was to provide customers a copy of the Addendum only after the Rental 

Agreement had been executed." Id. (emphasis in original). 

The facts in this case are easily distinguishable from those present in U-Haul. First, the 

arbitration agreement adopts a set of procedural rules, as most arbitration provisions do, and is not 

a document containing additional agreements. As has been extensively explained, the plain and 

unambiguous languag;e in the arbitration provision states in specific detail that "[a]ny arbitration 

conducted pursuant to this Section X shall be conducted in Cabell County, West Virginia in 

accordance with the American Health Lawyers Association ("AHLA") Alternative Dispute 

Resolution Service Rules of Procedure for Arbitration." Crucially - these were the rules the 

Petitioner, as the drafter of the Residency Agreements, chose would govern any future arbitration. 

The AHLA Rules of Procedure are publicly available and are not, in contrast to the U-Haul 

addendum, in the control of one party and only shared with the other party after the primary 

agreement is executed. In fact, the arbitration provision here provides precise information to both 
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contracting parties enabling them to ascertain the content of the incorporated rules, stating: "If you 

woul<;l like information regarding AHLA's Alternative Dispute Resolution Service, you may 

contact AHLA at (202) 833-1100 or Suite 600, 1025 Connecticut Avenue NW, Washington, DC 

20036-5405." A.0779; A.0798. No evidence exists, nor could it, that Respondents have somehow 

concealed the true nature of the AHLA Rules of Procedure from Petitioner, the very party that 

wrote the provision. Again, "a party's failure to read a duly incorporated document will not excuse 

the obligation to be bound by its terms ... " U-Haul at 443. Petitioner's "incorporation by 

reference" argument is untimely and without merit, and Petitioner should not be permitted to avoid 

clearly incorporated terms and procedures contained in an agreement it drafted. 

C. THE ARBITRATION PROVISION SELECTED THE AHLA AS AN EXCLUSIVE 
ARBITRAL FORUM AND ITS UNAVAILABILITY RENDERS THE 
ARBITRATION PROVISION UNENFORCEABLE 

Although the circuit court properly denied Petitioner's Motion to Compel Arbitration based 

on the Residency Agreements' failure to comply with the AHLA Rules of Procedure, an additional 

and related reason exists to affirm the circuit court. As Respondents argued below, the 

unavailability of the AHLA as the selected arbitral forum renders the provision unenforceable. The 

arbitration provision designated the AHLA as the exclusive arbitral forum and due to provision's 

failure to comply with the AHLA rules, the AHLA would enter a Final Award terminating the 

arbitration, rendering it unavailable or unwilling to accept the case. The circuit court acknowledged 

the parties' arguments concerning the unavailability of the chosen forum but found that the 

agreements' failure to comply with their own stated standards rendered them invalid irrespective 

of the availability of the AHLA. A.1394. 

Because review of an order denying a motion to compel arbitration is de novo, W Va. CVS 

Pharmacy LLC v. McDowell Pharmacy Inc., Syl. Pt. 1,238 W. Va. 465, 795 S.E.2d 574 (2017), 

Respondents reassert this as an alternative basis for affirming the circuit court's order. As this 
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Court has consistently and repeatedly stated, it "may affirm on grounds different than those relied 

upon by a trial court." Dan Ryan Builders, Inc. v. Williams, No. 18-0579, 2020 WL 6538832, at 

*5, n. 10 (W. Va. Nov. 6, 2020), citing Curry v. W Va. Consol. Pub. Ret. Bd., 236 W. Va. 188, 

194, n.6, 778 S.E.2d 637, 643 n.6 (2015); see Schmehl v. Helton, 222 W.Va. 98, 106 n.7, 662 

S.E.2d 697, 705 n.7 (2008) ("[T]his Court may in any event affilm the circuit court on any proper 

basis, whether relied upon by the circuit court or not."). 

This Court has recognized the majority rule that "where an arbitration agreement names a 

forum for arbitration that is unavailable or has failed for some reason, a court may appoint a 

substitute forum pursuant to section 5 of the Federal Arbitration Act, 9 U.S.C. § 5 (1947) (2006 

ed.), only if the choice of forum is an ancillary logistical concern." Credit Acceptance C01p. v. 

Fron(, 231 W. Va. 518,530, 745 S.E.2d 556,568 (2013) (emphasis added). "Where the choice of 

forum is an integral part of the agreement to arbitrate, the failure of the chosen forum will render 

the arbitration agreement unenforceable." Id. The Court in Credit Acceptance surveyed decisions 

of many courts in other jurisdictions recognizing this exception to section 5 of the FAA, but found 

that the arbitral forum in that case was available and did not further address when a selected arbitral 

forum is an "ancillary logistical concern" rather than an integral part of the agreement. 

Case law addressing forum selection clauses is instructive in determining whether the 

selection of an arbitral forum was integral to a parties' arbitration agreement. West Virginia 

recognizes "two types of forum-selection clauses: mandatory and permissive[,]" where a 

"mandatory forum-selection clause contains clear language indicating that jurisdiction is 

appropriate only in a designated forum" and a "permissive forum-selection clause authorizes 

litigation in a designated forum, but does not prohibit litigation elsewhere." Caperton v. A. T 

Massey Coal Co., 225 W. Va. 128, 143,690 S.E.2d 322,337 (2009) (internal quotations omitted). 

If a forum selection "is specified with mandatory terms such as "shall," or exclusive terms such as 
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"sole," "only," or "exclusive," the clause will be enforced as a mandatory forum-selection clause." 

Id. at 145. And "'[i]t is well established that the word "shall," in the absence of language ... 

showing a contrary intent ... , should be afforded a mandatory connotation." Id. at 145, n. 28 

(internal citation omitted); see also State v. Allen, 208 W.Va. 144, 153, 539 S.E.2d 87, 96 (1999) 

("Generally, 'shall' commands a mandatory connotation and denotes that the described behavior 

is directory, rather than discretionary." ( citations omitted)); Ex parte Bad Toys Holdings, Inc., 958 

So.2d 852, 856 (Ala.2006) ("The forum-selection clause in the purchase agreement provides that 

' [ v ]enue for any legal action which may be brought hereunder shall be deemed to lie in Sullivan 

County, Tennessee' (emphasis added). The ... use of the word 'shall' in the forum-selection clause 

makes the clause mandatory, not permissive."). 

Here, the language selecting the AHLA as the arbitral forum is clear and mandatory and 

was not merely an ancillary logistical concern. The arbitration provision states that "any arbitration 

shall be conducted in Cabell County, West Virginia in accordance with the American Health 

Lawyers Association ("AHLA") Alternative Dispute Resolution Service Rules of Procedure for 

Arbitration." A.0779; A.0798 (emphasis added). The arbitration provision further states that "any 

person requesting arbitration will be required to pay a filing fee to AHLA and other expenses ... " 

Id. The arbitration provision then points the contracting parties directly to the AHLA should 

information concerning the arbitral process be needed, stating: "If you would like information 

regarding AHLA's Alternative Dispute Resolution Service, you may contact AHLA at (202) 833-

1100 or Suite 600, 1025 Connecticut Avenue NW, Washington, DC 20036-5405." Id. This final 

sentence sends the parties to the AHLA for information concerning the entire "Dispute Resolution 

Service" and not merely for insight into the procedural rules. 

Petitioner drafted the arbitration provisions of the Residency Agreements and could have 

complied with the AHLA Rules or provided for an alternate forum, but it did not do so. Petitioner 
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designated one forum in the arbitration provisions to which the parties agreed: the American 

Health Lawyers Association Dispute Resolution Service. The arbitration provision requires the 

parties to pay a filing fee to the AHLA and directs its residents specifically to the AHLA for 

information concerning the arbitral process to which they were agreeing. The language in the 

provision is mandatory and exclusive. Critically, Petitioner's arbitration provision also omits any 

reference to any other arbitral rules or alternative arbitration forum should the AHLA be 

unavailable or unwilling to arbitrate. 

Courts have found arbitration provisions that select the AHLA as the arbitral forum and 

incorporate the AHLA Rules to be integral to the arbitration agreement. In Grant v. Magnolia 

Manor-Greenwood, Inc., 383 S.C. 125 (2009), without deciding whether section 5 of the FAA 

applied, the comi held that "designation of the AHLA as arbitrator is an integral term of this 

arbitration agreement." Id., 383 S.C. at 131. The court reasoned that "the designation of a forum 

such as the AHLA 'has wide-ranging substantive implications that may affect, inter alia, the 

arbitrator-selection process, the law, procedures, and rules that govern the arbitration, the 

enforcement of the arbitral award, and the cost of the arbitration."' Id. at 132 (quoting Singleton v. 

Grade A Market, Inc., 607 F.Supp.2d 333, 339 (D. Conn. 2009)). 

Recently, the New Mexico Court of Appeals in Rudolph v. Manor Estates, Inc., No. A-1-

CA-35862, 2019 WL 2121293 (N.M. Ct. App. May 13, 2019) considered whether an arbitration 

agreement requiring an arbitration be conducted "in accordance with" the AHLA's Rules made the 

selection of the AHLA as the arbitral forum an integral part of the agreement. The court there 

applied the standards described in Rivera v. American General Financial Services, Inc., 150 N.M. 

398,259 P.3d 803, a case cited by this Court in Credit Acceptance, 231 W.Va. at 530, which ask 

whether "the arbitration contract specifically and exclusively named the unavailable arbitration 

provider, mandated that the arbitration be conducted under the unavailable provider's rules and 
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procedures, and used mandatory rather than permissive language." Rudolph at *7. The court in 

Rudolph observed that the arbitration agreement at issue did not "expressly designate AHLA as 

the arbitrator; rather, the arbitration agreement provides that the arbitration be conducted "in 

accordance with" the AHLA's Rules."7 Furthermore: 

The arbitration agreement specifically and exclusively references 
AHLA throughout the arbitration agreement and incorporates the 
AHLA's rules into the same. Among other things, the incorporated 
AHLA rules dictate: (1) how to file a claim for arbitration; (2) that 
AHLA controls the selection and appointment of a single, neutral 
arbitrator; (3) that an alternative selection process is only available 
when the parties have agreed to the alternative in writing and the 
validity and interpretation of that agreement are not in dispute; and 
( 4) the powers available to the arbitrator. Furthermore, the language 
concerning arbitration is mandatory rather than permissive. For 
example, the arbitration agreement indicates that claims "shall be 
resolved exclusively by binding arbitration" and that all claims 
"shall be arbitrated in one proceeding." 

Id. The court held that "the specific and exclusive references to the AHLA, incorporation 

of the AHLA rules, the breadth of the AHLA rules, and mandatory language of the agreement" 

meant "that the selection of the AHLA was integral to the arbitration agreement." Id. at * 8. The 

court affirmed the lower court's denial of the motion to compel on the basis of the unavailability 

of the AHLA following application of the rules the parties adopted in the arbitration agreement. 

Similarly, the Florida Supreme Court in Shotts v. OP Winter Haven, Inc., analyzed an 

arbitration agreement that provided any arbitration would be conducted "in accordance with the 

AHLA Rules Alternative Dispute Resolution Service Rules of Procedure for Arbitration" and 

found "the AHLA provision goes to the ve1y essence of the agreement" and "[i]f the provision 

were to be severed, the trial comi would be forced to rewrite the agreement and to add an entirely 

new set of procedural rules and burdens and standards, a job that the trial court is not tasked to 

do." 86 So. 3d 456, 459 (Fla. 2011 ). Moreover, the court wrote, if the provision were severed, a 

7 The court in Rudolph applied the 2014 version of the AHLA Rules to that particular agreement. Rule 11.5 
of the 2014 version contains the same requirements as Rule 2.1 in the current version that is applicable 
here. 
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court would be hard pressed to determine whether "there still remains of the contract valid legal 

promises on one side which are wholly suppmied by valid legal promises on the other, particularly 

when those legal promises are viewed through the eyes of the contracting parties." Id While the 

court in Shotts was focused on whether a limitation of remedies violated public policy rather than 

the unavailability of the AHLA, the court's observation of the material and integral nature of an 

arbitration agreement's adoption of the AHLA Rules is instructive. 

The arbitration provision in the Residency Agreements specifically and exclusively refers 

to the AHLA. Using mandatory language, the agreement requires a paiiy seeking to arbitrate a 

dispute to submit its demand for arbitration to the AHLA Dispute Resolution Center, together with 

the requisite fee, and that any questions be directed to the AHLA. The designation of the AHLA 

has wide-ranging substantive implications and selection of the AHLA as the arbitral forum was 

integral to the arbitration agreement. Its unavailability compels a finding that the arbitration 

agreement is unenforceable and provides an alternate basis for this Court to affirm the circuit 

court's order denying the motion to compel arbitration. 

D. PETITIONER OBJECTIVELY WAIVED ANY RIGHT TO ARBITRATE BY 
SUBSTANTIALLY INVOKING THE JUDICIAL PROCESS BEFORE AND 
AFTER ATTEMPTING TO ASSERT A RIGHT TO ARBITRATION 

Petitioner's Statement of the Case sets fo1ih a confusing account of the proceedings in the 

circuit comi and is laden with many arguments and explanations that are irrelevant to the singular 

error assigned on appeal. This approach makes sense when viewed as an attempt to sidestep the 

conclusion that Petitioner waived the right to compel. Petitioner's explanation in footnote 5 of the 

Brief that it "was Petitioner's intention that once Beckley Health Partners became a party 

Defendant, the arbitration provision would then be invoked" expressly admits its failure to timely 

raise arbitration was intentional. Similarly, the Brief concocts a "substantial legal question" related 

to whether it had the right to enforce arbitration as a non-signatory to the Residency Agreements 
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to justify its substantial delay in asserting that right. Petitioner must do this in order to argue that 

Bluestem Brands, Inc. v. Shade, 239 W.Va. 694, 805 S.E.2d 805 (2017) triggered its awareness of 

a right to enforce arbitration, which is clearly not the case. 

The right to arbitration is purely a matter of contract. Thus, "arbitration agreements are [ as 

much] enforceable as other contracts, but not more so." Prima Paint Corp. v. Flood & Conklin 

Mfg. Co., 388 U.S. 395,404 n. 12, 87 S.Ct. 1801, 1806 n. 12, 18 L.Ed.2d 1270, 1277 n. 12 (1967). 

As with any contract right, an arbitration requirement may be waived through the conduct of the 

parties. See Earl T Browder, Inc. v. County Court of Webster County, 143 W.Va. 406, 412, 102 

S.E.2d 425,430 (1958) (holding that defendant's neglect or refusal to arbitrate dispute constituted 

waiver of right to require arbitration); Pettus v. Olga Coal Co., 13 7 W.Va. 492, 500, 72 S.E.2d 

881, 885 (1952) (binding arbitration provision requires that "'suit cannot be brought until the 

award is made, unless ... performance is exc1ised by waiver or for other good cause"') (citation 

omitted). 

Whether waiver has occurred in the arbitration context "should be analyzed in much the 

same way as in any other contractual context." Nat'! Found.for Cancer Research v. A.G. Edwards 

& Sons, Inc., 821 F.2d 772, 774 (D.C. Cir. 1987). West Virginia courts concur on this point. See, 

e.g., Parsons v. Halliburton Energy Servs., 237 W.Va. 138, 758 S.E. 2d 844 (2016). In Parsons, 

this Comi reiterated that an alleged agreement to arbitrate is a construct of contract law; that all 

defenses to contracts apply in the evaluation of arbitration; and that a party to an alleged arbitration 

agreement may waive its right either expressly or by its actions and/or conduct. 

The common-law doctrine of waiver focuses on the conduct of the 
party against whom waiver is sought, and requires that a party to 
have intentionally relinquished a known right. A waiver mav be 
express or mav be inferred from actions or conduct, but all of 
the attendant facts, taken together, must amount to an 
intentional relinquishment of a known right. There is no 
requirement of prejudice or detrimental reliance by the party 
asserting the waiver. 
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Syl. Pt. 2, Parsons, Id. at 848 (emphasis added). A party waiving an alleged arbitration agreement 

does not have to specifically say, "I understand I can arbitrate, but I chose not to enforce the 

provision." In short, waiver is proven by the actions of the party seeking to contest waiver. 

To establish waiver of a contractual right to arbitrate, the party 
asserting waiver must show that the waiving party knew of the right 
to arbitrate and either expressly waived the right, or, based on the 
totality of the circumstances, acted inconsistently with the right to 
arbitrate through acts or language. 

Syl. Pt. 6, Parsons, Id. The key to proving waiver of an arbitration provision lies in the conduct 

of the party seeking to enforce an alleged arbitration provision. Petitioner has established, by its 

conduct in the circuit court, its definitive waiver of the right to arbitrate this dispute. 

1. Petitioner's Docketed Litigation Conduct Objectively Waived Arbitration. 

Petitioner's litigation conduct, including the overt act of seeking final judgment in its favor 

from the circuit court, constitutes waiver of arbitration as a matter of law. "'A party waives 

arbitration by seeking a decision on the merits before attempting to arbitrate."' In re Mirant Corp., 

613 F.3d 584, 589 (5th Cir. 2010) (quoting Petroleum Pipe Ams. C01p. v. Jindal Saw, Ltd., 575 

F.3d 476,480 (5th Cir. 2009) (citation omitted)). By seeking a determination on the merits, a party 

"substantially invokes the judicial process" which "'evinces a desire to resolve the arbitrable 

dispute through litigation rather than arbitration." Mirant at 589 (quoting Subway Equip. Leasing 

Corp. v. Forte, 169 F.3d 324, 329 (5th Cir. 1999)). 

In Mirant, the party wanting to enforce arbitration filed a motion to dismiss with prejudice 

before attempting to arbitrate. The court found this conduct to constitute substantial invocation of 

the judicial process in that a dismissal with prejudice would resolve the dispute on through 

litigation rather than arbitration. Importantly, Petitioner's Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings 

or in the Alternative Motion for Summary Judgment even more substantially and unquestionably 

invoked the judicial process in that it sought entry of a judgment in its favor. If Petitioner had 
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persuaded the circuit court that the Respondents' claims abated at their deaths, the dispute would 

have been resolved on the merits through litigation rather than arbitration. 

In total, Petitioner's docketed litigation activity, described in detail in Respondents' 

Statement of the Case, demonstrates that it has substantially invoked the legal process on matters 

related to the merits of the Parties' dispute, "act[ing] inconsistently with the right to arbitrate[,]" 

Syl. Pt. 6, Parsons, id., and evincing a desire to obtain resolution in its favor from the circuit court. 

Most notably this litigation activity included filing three Answers without raising an arbitration 

defense, responding to discovery, submitting a proposed case management order and schedule; 

and- the ultimate act inconsistent with a right to arbitrate - seeking summary judgment in its favor 

from the circuit court. 

2. Petitioner's Waiver was Knowing and Intentional. 

As this Court has observed, "[t]he filing of the first motion to compel unequivocally 

establishes that petitioners knew they had a contractual right to arbitration. Dan Ryan Builders, 

Inc. v. Williams, No. 18-0579, 2020 WL 6538832, at *5 (W. Va. Nov. 6, 2020). Here Petitioner 

urges that it did not know it had the right to arbitration before the Bluestem decision, but this 

explanation is squarely contradicted by its motion seeking leave to add an affirmative arbitration 

defense six months before the Bluestem decision. To be sure, by the time Petitioner sought leave 

to add this affirmative defense it had already waived the right by engaging in litigation and seeking 

a dispositive ruling in its favor. But Petitioner's invocation of the Bluestem decision as the trigger 

for its knowledge of its right to arbitrate is simply inaccurate. 

Petitioner itself believed it had the right to arbitrate before the Bluestem decision. Its 

Motion for Leave to Amend to add an arbitration defense stated that "even as a non-signat01y to 

the Assisted Living Agreements Chancellor is entitled to enforce the arbitration provision ... and 

therefore, the defendant desires to assert as a defense in this matter that the claims asserted are 
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subject to a valid arbitration agreement." A.0225. And Petitioner cited a case from 2009 in support 

of its independent right to arbitrate. Id. The Motion for Leave to Amend to add an arbitration 

defense was heard on November 13, 2017, during which Petitioner vigorously argued it should be 

granted leave to assert an arbitration defense. Petitioner did not mention the Bluestem case at that 

hearing, even though the decision had been issued a month before. 

Even if Petitioner had held an honest belief that it lacked a right to arbitrate prior to 

Bluestem, it could only have been a mistaken belief. In Bluestem this Court merely reiterated and 

applied the common law regarding equitable estoppel. Quoting a 2000 case from the Fourth 

Circuit, Bluestem recognizes that "'[w]ell-established common law principles dictate that in an 

appropriate case a nonsignatory can enforce, or be bound by, an arbitration provision within a 

contract executed by other parties."' 239 W. Va. at 702, quoting Int 'l Paper Co. v. Schwabedissen 

Maschinen & Anlagen GMBH, 206 F .3d 411, 416-17 ( 4th Cir. 2000). The Comi then recognized 

that it "recently addressed enforcement of arbitration agreements relative to non-signatories 

in Chesapeake Appalachia, L.L.C. v. Hickman, 236 W.Va. 421, 781 S.E.2d 198 (2015)" which 

"acknowledged the estoppel theory of arbitration enforcement by a non-signat01y." Id. The 2015 

Chesapeake Appalachia decision stated that "[A] willing non-signatory seeking to arbitrate with a 

signatory that is unwilling may do so under what has been called an alternative estoppel theory, 

which takes into consideration the relationships of persons, wrongs and issues." 236 W.Va. at 440, 

781 S.E.2d at 217. If any decision by this Court marks the time when non-signatories like Petitioner 

knew they had a clear right to arbitrate, it would be the 2015 Chesapeake decision and not 

Bluestem. 

Petitioner's docketed activity in another case Kelley v. Beckley Health Partners, LTD. d/b/a 

the Greystone Inn, LLC alk/a Villages at Greystone; Chancellor Senior Management, LTD; and 

Stephanie O'Dell, (Civil Action No. 14-C-618-H) further demonstrates that Petitioner's waiver of 
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the arbitration provision in this case was knowing and intentional, and had nothing to do with a 

purported lack of clarity in the law. In contrast to Petitioner's behavior in this litigation, its 

litigation conduct in the earlier Kelley case was consistent with the right to arbitrate. Petitioner's 

first filing in Kelley was a Motion to Compel Arbitration, to which it attached a residency 

agreement with an arbitration provision identical to the arbitration provision in Respondents' 

agreements. There Petitioner raised this defense immediately, despite the fact that it was not a 

signatory to the residency agreement containing the arbitration provision. 8 Even though the court 

denied Petitioner's motion to compel arbitration, it was not due to waiver of that right. And 

Petitioner's conduct in Kelley demonstrates that it has "known that it has the right" to invoke the 

arbitration provision for many years preceding this case. Because Petitioner was armed with 

knowledge of its rights as a non-signat01y at the outset of this case, and yet engaged in litigation 

for two and a half years before filing its motion compel arbitration, it waived its right to do so. 

3. Dilatory Invocation of Arbitration Rights is Highly Disfavored, and Arbitration 
Should Not Be Used as a "Backup Plan" To Avoid Liability. 

The primary virtue of arbitration is supposed to be efficiency. According to the United 

States Supreme Court, "Congress' clear intent, in the [FAA], [was] to move the parties in an 

arbitrable dispute out of court and into arbitration as quickly and easily as possible." Moses H 

Cone Mem'l Hosp. v. Mercury Const. Corp., 460 U.S. 1, 22 (1983). Here Petitioner's position that 

a party can chose not to invoke arbitration; litigate in the circuit court for seven months; engage in 

dilatory tactics; aggressively utilize the circuit court's authority over the instant claims, and then 

strategically invoke arbitration, flies in the face of fairness. Petitioner's attempt to invoke 

arbitration was an untimely back-up litigation tactic. Petitioner admitted as much to the circuit 

court, explaining in its Surreply to Plaintiffs' Motion for Partial Summary Judgment that the 

8 Petitioner's behavior in Kelley suggests that even where it might have been unclear about the status of its 
right to arbitrate, it was not hesitant to assert its right to do so. 
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Motion for Leave to Amend the Answer to add arbitration as a defense was "filed as part of 

Chancellor's litigation strategy to join Beckley Health Partners, which is the owner and operator 

of the Greystone and signatory to the Residency Agreements, and then invoke the arbitration 

provision." A.1333. Notably, however, Petitioner did not move to join Beckley Health Partners as 

a party defendant until July 12, 2019, Supp.A.1445-1449, two years and four days after first 

mentioning arbitration. Courts have rejected tardy motions to compel arbitration that reflect 

nothing more than a party's shift to "the arbitration option as a backup plan." See, e.g., MC Asset 

Recovery, LLCv. Castex Energy, Inc., 613 F.3d 584,590 (5th Cir. 2010). To authorize Petitioner's 

conduct would only encourage unfair litigation tactics. 

Petitioner's November 25, 2020 letter to the circuit comijudge fmiher shows that its delay 

in invoking arbitration was litigation strategy. There, Petitioner expressed its intention to re-litigate 

in arbitration whether the claims survived the deaths of the parties, an issue the parties extensively 

briefed and upon which Petitioner sought summary judgment in its favor in the circuit comi. 

A.1419-1420. Adding insult to injury, Petitioner has defied its agreement to pursue an appeal of 

the survivability and arbitration issues in one appeal, and presumably intends to return to this Court 

down the road on the survival issue should the lower comi' s arbitration determination be affirmed. 

Litigation tactics like this are precisely why litigants are not permitted to act inconsistent with the 

right to arbitrate. The inordinate delay caused by Petitioner's tactics would unfairly prejudice 

Respondents and should not be endorsed. Should this Court find error in the circuit court's order 

denying the motion to compel arbitration, it should nonetheless affirm on the basis of Petitioner's 

knowing and intentional waiver of any right to compel arbitration. 

V. CONCLUSION 

The circuit court correctly held that the arbitration provision in the Respondents' Residency 

Agreements are unenforceable because they fail to comply with their own terms. Any arbitrator 
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would be required to apply the AHLA Rules and dismiss the arbitration, meaning there is no 

available arbitral forum. Alternatively, because the arbitration provision designates the AHLA as 

the exclusive arbitral forum, the AHLA's unavailability renders the arbitration provision 

unenforceable. Furthermore, Petitioner waived any right to compel the Respondents to arbitration 

by substantially invoking the judicial process - most notably by seeking a dispositive ruling in its 

favor - before asserting any right to arbitration. For these reasons, this Court should affirm the 

circuit court's order denying Petitioner's Motion to Compel Arbitration. 
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